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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

JACKSONVILLE DIVISION 

In re:

LYDIA CLADEK, INC., 

  Debtor. 
_____________________________________/

Case No. 3:10-bk-02805-PMG 

(Consolidated by Prior Court Order with Case 
No. 10-bk-02800-PMG) 

MICHAEL PHELAN, not individually but as 
Chapter 11 Trustee of the estate of the Debtor, 
Lydia Cladek, Inc. 

                Plaintiff, 
v.

LYDIA I. CLADEK; Captiva Island Vacation 
Properties, LLC; Land Trust Service 
Corporation as Trustee under the Trust AB, 
dated October 19, 2004; Land Trust Service 
Corporation as Trustee of Trust No. 16259-52; 
Land Trust Service Corporation as Trustee of 
Trust No. 4443; Trust No. 23 dated September 
21, 2005, Land Trust Service Corporation, as 
Trustee as to Parcel A; Trust No. 25 dated 
September 21, 2005, Land Trust Service 
Corporation, as Trustee as to Parcel B; Trust
No. 27 dated September 21, 2005, Land Trust 
Service Corporation, as Trustee as to Parcel C; 
Trust No. 16250-52, dated May 26, 2006, Land 
Trust Service Corporation, as Trustee; Land 
Trust Service Corporation, as Trustee of Trust 
No. 4443 dated March 9, 2005; and Trust No. 
1001 dated August 26, 2005, Land Trust 
Service Corporation, as Trustee, 

                Defendants. 
_____________________________________/

Adv. Proc. No. 10-_______________ 
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VERIFIED COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES AND OTHER RELIEF

Michael Phelan, not individually but as the Chapter 11 Trustee (the “Chapter 11 

Trustee”) of the consolidated Chapter 11 cases of Lydia Cladek, Inc. (the "Debtor"), files this 

Verified Complaint for Damages and Other Relief against the following Defendants: Lydia I. 

Cladek ("Cladek"); Captiva Island Vacation Properties, LLC; Land Trust Service Corporation as 

Trustee under the Trust AB, dated October 19, 2004; Land Trust Service Corporation as Trustee 

of Trust No. 16259-52; Land Trust Service Corporation as Trustee of Trust No. 4443; Trust No. 

23 dated September 21, 2005, Land Trust Service Corporation, as Trustee as to Parcel A; Trust

No. 25 dated September 21, 2005, Land Trust Service Corporation, as Trustee as to Parcel B;

Trust No. 27 dated September 21, 2005, Land Trust Service Corporation, as Trustee as to Parcel 

C; Trust No. 16250-52, dated May 26, 2006, Land Trust Service Corporation, as Trustee; Land 

Trust Service Corporation, as Trustee of Trust No. 4443 dated March 9, 2005; Trust No. 1001 

dated August 26, 2005, Land Trust Service Corporation, as Trustee (collectively, the "Cladek 

Entities"): 

THE PARTIES, JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. The Debtor is a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Florida on 

January 2, 1998 and maintains a principal office at 108 Seagrove Main Street, St. Augustine, 

Florida 32080.  The Debtor was previously engaged in the purchase of automobile retail 

installment finance contracts which it offered as investments to private third party 

lenders/investors.

2. Cladek is an individual who resides in St. Johns County, Florida.  Cladek is the 

sole shareholder of the Debtor and, until approximately April 14, 2010, was its President. 
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3. The Cladek Entities are limited liability companies, limited partnerships, trusts, 

and/or corporations organized and existing under the laws of the States of Florida and/or other 

domestic or foreign jurisdictions.  The Cladek Entities were not separate and distinct legal entities 

from the Debtor because their existence was directly attributable to, and entirely dependant upon, 

the operations of the Debtor.  At all times material hereto, the Cladek Entities, among other 

things, conducted business from the Debtor's office, were funded with monies provided by the 

Debtor, and utilized the Debtor's personnel and office equipment to conduct business. 

4. At all times material hereto, Cladek caused the Debtor to transfer funds to, 

between and/or among the Debtor, Cladek and the Cladek Entities, while the Debtor, through 

Cladek, continued to exercise dominion and control of and over such funds, which were 

thereafter used to acquire real and personal property of substantial value for Cladek and the 

Cladek Entities.  The precise nature, extent and whereabouts of all of the assets of Cladek and the 

Cladek Entities are not yet fully known, except that certain valuable assets of Cladek and the 

Cladek Entities were seized by the United States government in or about March 2010. 

5. The Chapter 11 Trustee is currently operating the Debtor's business pursuant to 

sections 1106 and 1108 of chapter 11 of title 11 of the United States Code (the “Bankruptcy 

Code”) and this Court's Order Approving Appointment of Chapter 11 Trustee and Setting of Bond

(the "Appointment Order") [Doc. No. 47]. 

6. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§§ 157(a), 1334(b), 2201 and 2202. 

7. This is a core proceeding pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 157(b)(2)(A), (B), (C), (E), 

(H), and (O), and the Chapter 11 Trustee consents to the entry of final orders and judgment by the 

Bankruptcy Court. 
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8. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1408 and 1409. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL COUNTS

A. Procedural History

9. On April 2, 2010, several petitioning creditors filed an involuntary Chapter 11 

petition against Lydia Cladek, Inc., case styled as In re Lydia Cladek, Inc., Case No. 10-bk-

02800-PMG, in the United States Bankruptcy Court, Middle District of Florida, Jacksonville 

Division (the “Involuntary Case”), in the wake of allegations that Cladek had perpetrated a 

massive Ponzi scheme. 

10. Subsequently, on April 5, 2010, the Debtor filed the instant voluntary Chapter 11 

petition, case styled as In re Lydia Cladek, Inc., Case No. 10-bk-02805-PMG, in the United 

States Bankruptcy Court, Middle District of Florida, Jacksonville Division (the “Voluntary 

Case”).

11. On April 7, 2010, several creditors filed an Emergency Motion to Appoint a 

Chapter 11 Trustee [Doc. No. 11]. 

12. On April 7, 2010, several creditors filed an Emergency Motion to Consolidate the 

Involuntary and Voluntary Chapter 11 cases of Lydia Cladek, Inc. [Doc. No. 13]. 

13. On April 12, 2010, the Court entered its Order Granting Motion To Consolidate, 

consolidating the Voluntary and Involuntary Chapter 11 cases of the Debtor, and providing that 

the Voluntary Case, Case No. 10-02805, shall be the lead case [Doc. No. 32]. 

14. On April 13, 2010, the United States Trustee filed its Appointment of Chapter 11 

Trustee and Setting Bond, and its Application for Approval to Appoint Michael Phelan as 

Chapter 11 Trustee [Doc. Nos. 44 and 46]. 
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15. On April 13, 2010, Michael Phelan filed a Notice of Acceptance as Chapter 11 

Trustee [Doc. No. 45] and on April 14, 2010, the Court entered the Appointment Order. 

B. Background

16. As noted above, the Involuntary Case was initially filed after the petitioning 

creditors learned that Cladek had utilized the Debtor's business to fraudulently secure investments 

in fictitious installment automobile loans purportedly purchased from used automobile 

dealerships and that Cladek funneled those investment funds through accounts titled in the name 

of the Debtor to the Cladek Entities and Cladek personally. 

17. Cladek enticed prospective investors to invest in allegedly collateralized 

installment automobile finance contracts with promises of a safe investment product with a 

guaranteed rate of return between 15% to 20%.  The Debtor purchased its automobile notes from 

multiple used car dealers in the Southeast United States and in other states.  In order to fund the 

purchase of the automobile notes, the Debtor issued promissory notes to private third party 

lenders/investors who, in exchange for their provision of funds to the Debtor, received 

promissory notes purportedly secured by the automobile notes.  However, the Debtor did not 

have adequate automobile notes to collateralize the investments it offered and thus paid old 

investors with funds received from new investors, rather than performing automobile loan 

payments.   

18. To accomplish this scheme, Cladek provided each prospective investor with 

signed and notarized promissory note for a specific term at a specified interest rate of return.  The 

Debtor's promissory notes and investor literature specified that investors could seek a return of 

their principal investment and earned interest, minus a 1% penalty, if they provided a 60-day 

written notice to the Debtor.  The investor documents also stated that investors' money would 
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usually be returned in a few business days, but that it may take up to 60 days.  In addition, with 

each promissory note issued to investors, the investors received a collateral listing of the 

automobile notes that are pledged as security for their investment.  The investor documents 

indicate that if these vehicles were to be repossessed, paid off, or totaled in an accident, the 

investor's money would be safe and another replacement automobile note would be assigned as 

collateral from others notes held by the Debtor.  The investor documents also state that investor 

money is not at risk and is safe because "people who have loaned money to Lydia Cladek, Inc. 

have only made money with the company" and "everyone has been paid on time as agreed." 

19.  In furtherance of the scheme, the Debtor's form promissory note also enumerated 

the following standard provisions, among others, which assured the investors that their 

investments were adequately collateralized and secured:  (1) the principal balance and accrued 

interest will be returned to the investor prior to the earlier of the due date or within 60 days of 

written notice from the investor; and (2) if any of the following events of default occur, the note 

and any other obligations of the Debtor to the investor shall become due immediately, without 

demand and notice: (a) the failure of the Debtor to pay the principal and any accrued interest on 

or before the due date; (b) the misrepresentation by the Debtor to the investor for the purpose of 

obtaining or extending credit; and (c) the sale, transfer, assignment or other disposition of any 

assets pledged as collateral for the payment of a note.  Additionally, the form promissory note 

also states that the investors' money would be secured by a collateral assignment of automobile 

notes of the same date as the promissory notes. 

20. Cladek falsified the existence of the automobile loan collateral, falsified the 

existence of the automobile loan collateral proceeds, falsified the documents, fraudulently 

assigned single automobile notes to multiple investors, fraudulently assigned fictitious and/or 
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non-performing automobile notes to investors, and misappropriated the investor funds to herself 

and to the Cladek Entities.   

21. As part of the scheme, Cladek utilized her position as an officer and owner of the 

Debtor, her relationship with existing clients of the Debtor and the Debtor's financial institution 

accounts in order to entice investors to invest in fraudulent and fictitious collateralized 

installment automobile loans. 

22. Cladek would also encourage investors/creditors to defer payments on notes 

issued by the Debtor by fraudulently representing to these investors/creditors that by doing so it 

would allow their investments to grow. 

23. In sum, Cladek utilized the Debtor to perpetuate a fraudulent scheme by engaging 

in the sale of non-existent and/or under-collateralized installment automobile loans. 

24. Cladek used her staff and the premises of the Debtor as her command center for 

her fraudulent scheme to benefit herself and the Cladek Entities.

25. Indeed, Cladek's Ponzi scheme provided the monies necessary for the Debtor's 

operations growth.  Moreover, substantially all funds flowed to and through the Debtor's bank 

accounts to Cladek and the Cladek Entities.   

26. Upon information and belief, Cladek bilked investors out of more than 

$100,000,000.  A recently published article stated the actual figure could be as high as 

$200,000,000.

27. Prior to the Debtor's bankruptcy filing, in or about November 2009, the FBI began 

an investment fraud investigation of the Debtor and its principal, Cladek, involving, among other 

things, violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1341 (mail fraud) and 18 U.S.C. § 1342 (wire fraud), as well as 

money laundering transactions in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1956 and 1957.  See Verified 
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Complaint For Forfeiture In Rem dated April 8, 2010, at ¶¶6-9, a copy of which is annexed 

hereto as Exhibit A (the "Forfeiture Complaint").   In or about March 2010, federal authorities 

executed a search warrant and seized various property and records from the Debtor's offices and 

from the home of Cladek. 

28. On April 8, 2010, the United States of America filed the Forfeiture Complaint 

seeking the forfeiture of various parcels of real property which were purportedly purchased with 

millions of dollars drained from the Debtor's business operating account.  See id.  The Forfeiture 

Complaint alleges that: 

(a) Ms. Cladek operated the Debtor as a "Ponzi Scheme" by enticing new 

investors to invest in allegedly collateralized installment automobile 

loans with promises of a safe investment product with a guaranteed 

rate of return.

(b) The Debtor did not have adequate automobile notes to collateralize 

the investments it offered and thus paid old investors with funds 

received from new investors, rather than performing automobile loan 

payments.   

(c) Cladek funneled in excess of $12 Million of investor money from the 

Debtor's operating account into her personal accounts (as well as 

directly from the Debtor's operating account).  These absconded funds 

were used to purchase million dollar homes and real estate, to fund 

mortgage payments for these homes, to pay renovation and 

landscaping costs for several properties in Southwest Florida, and to 

purchase multiple luxury vehicles for Cladek's personal use.   
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(d) Cladek purchased many properties in the names of nominee 

corporations including Captiva Island Vacation Properties, LLC and 

Land Trust Service Corporation, both of which are named defendants 

in this action. 

29. The Chapter 11 Trustee has been in regular communication and is cooperating 

with the United States Attorney and the FBI regarding the forfeiture action.  

30. At all material times hereto, Cladek formed, operated or otherwise treated the 

Debtor and the Cladek Entities as her alter egos and as her mere instrumentality in committing 

the fraud described hereinabove. 

31. For all purposes, Cladek, the Cladek Entities and the Debtor were single 

economic entities, and the Debtor and the Cladek Entities simply functioned as a façade for 

Cladek as their dominant shareholder. 

32. Pursuant to the Appointment Order, the Chapter 11 Trustee is the duly authorized 

fiduciary on behalf of the Debtor. 

33. All conditions precedent to the filing of this action have been performed, have 

occurred, have been waived or have otherwise been excused. 
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COUNT I

ACTION SEEKING TO SUBSTANTIVELY CONSOLIDATE NON-DEBTOR 
CLADEK AND THE NON-DEBTOR CLADEK ENTITIES WITH 

AND INTO THE BANKRUPTCY ESTATE OF THE DEBTOR

 The Chapter 11 Trustee sues Cladek and the Cladek Entities and alleges: 

34. The Chapter 11 Trustee repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 33 above as if 

fully set forth herein.

35. This is an action to substantively consolidate the non-debtor Cladek and the non-

debtor Cladek Entities, along with their respective assets and liabilities, with and into the 

Debtor's bankruptcy estate pursuant to section 105 of the Bankruptcy Code.

36. At all times material hereto, Cladek formed, operated and/or otherwise treated the 

Debtor and the Cladek Entities as her alter egos, such that substantive consolidation of the assets 

and liabilities of Cladek and the Cladek Entities with and into the Debtor's bankruptcy estate is 

necessary and appropriate.

37. In addition to the foregoing, and to the extent necessary or appropriate, 

substantive consolidation is also necessary and appropriate for other reasons which include, but 

are not necessarily limited to, the following:

(a) Cladek and the Debtor were both engaged in the same line of 

business, which included enticing investors to invest in fraudulent and 

fictitious collateralized installment automobile loans, all of which 

were part of the ongoing Ponzi scheme; 

(b) Cladek, the Cladek Entities and the Debtor conducted business from 

the same business location at 108 Seagrove Main Street, St. 

Augustine, Florida 32080;
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(c) Cladek, the Cladek Entities and the Debtor operated as a single 

economic unit commingling assets and business functions;

(d) Assets of the Cladek Entities were purchased with funds Cladek 

fraudulently obtained through her operation of the Debtor;

(e) The business affairs of Cladek, the Cladek Entities and the Debtor are 

inextricably intertwined and entangled;

(f) Untangling the financial and business affairs of Cladek, the Cladek 

Entities and the Debtor would be extremely costly, if not impossible 

to do;

(g) The separate financial affairs of Cladek, the Cladek Entities and the 

Debtor were disregarded so significantly pre-petition such that their 

creditors relied on the breakdown of entity borders and treated them as 

a single legal entity;

(h) The Cladek Entities and the Debtor functioned as a façade for Cladek 

who acted as the dominant shareholder for all business activities; 

(i) The Cladek Entities and the Debtor were not adequately capitalized 

for their legitimate business operations; the Cladek Entities and the 

Debtor were not solvent during their business operations; Cladek did 

not function properly as a shareholder, officer, and director of the 

Cladek Entities and the Debtor; and Cladek and the Cladek Entities 

siphoned off the Debtor's corporate funds for their personal use;
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(j) The Cladek Entities were each formed and operated by Cladek for 

improper purposes, including to operate a massive Ponzi scheme and 

to otherwise hinder, delay or defraud creditors of the Debtor; 

(k) To the extent applicable, creditors dealt with Cladek, the Cladek 

Entities and the Debtor as a single economic unit; 

(l) To the extent applicable, creditors did not rely on the separate identity 

of Cladek, the Cladek Entities and the Debtor in extending credit; 

(m) The benefits of consolidation will far outweigh any harm from 

consolidation; and

(n) Separating the assets and liabilities of Cladek, the Cladek Entities and 

the Debtor would be prohibitively expensive and detrimental to all 

creditors.

38. Based on the foregoing, substantive consolidation of the non-debtor Cladek and 

the non-debtor Cladek Entities, along with their respective assets and liabilities, with and into the 

bankruptcy estate of the Debtor, is necessary and appropriate.

WHEREFORE, the Chapter 11 Trustee demands the entry of judgment against Cladek 

and the Cladek Entities substantively consolidating each, along with their respective assets and 

liabilities, with and into the bankruptcy estate of the Debtor, authorizing the Chapter 11 Trustee 

to liquidate all assets of Cladek and the Cladek Entities, and determining that the substantive 

consolidation of Cladek and the Cladek Entities with and into the bankruptcy estate of the Debtor 

be without prejudice to protect and preserve the right of the Debtor, Cladek and the Cladek 

Entities to commence and prosecute separate claims under Chapter 5 of the Bankruptcy Code 
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and avoidance claims under applicable law, and for such other relief the Court may deem just 

and appropriate. 

COUNT II

ACTION TO IMPOSE ALTER EGO LIABILITY
AND PIERCE THE CORPORATE VEIL

The Chapter 11 Trustee sues Cladek and the Cladek Entities and alleges: 

39. The Chapter 11 Trustee repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 38 above as if 

fully set forth herein. 

40. This is an action to impose alter ego liability upon Cladek and the Cladek Entities 

for the debts and liabilities of the Debtor, and to pierce the corporate veil of the Cladek Entities 

for the benefit of the Debtor. 

41. Cladek operated and otherwise treated the Debtor and the Cladek Entities as her 

alter egos and/or as her mere instrumentalities in committing the fraud described above. 

42. Among the factors, which existed at all times material hereto, supporting the alter 

ego liability:  (i) the Debtor and Cladek were both engaged in the same line of business, which 

included enticing investors to invest in fraudulent and fictitious collateralized installment 

automobile loans, all of which were part of the ongoing Ponzi scheme; (ii) the Debtor, Cladek 

and the Cladek Entities conducted business from the same business location using the business 

premises and staff of the Debtor; (iii) the Debtor and the Cladek Entities were not adequately 

capitalized to conduct legitimate business operations; (iv) the Debtor and the Cladek Entities 

were insolvent or otherwise not paying their debts as they came due; (v) the Cladek Entities 

failed to observe proper corporate formalities; and (vi) Cladek caused the Debtor and the Cladek 

Entities to commingle funds used in and for their operations, and caused substantial funds to be 

transferred from the Debtor to herself and the Cladek Entities for little or no consideration. 
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WHEREFORE, the Chapter 11 Trustee demands the entry of judgment against Cladek 

and the Cladek Entities:  (i) piercing the corporate veil of the Cladek Entities; (ii) determining 

that Cladek and the Cladek Entities are alter egos of one another; (iii) determining that Cladek 

and the Cladek Entities are alter egos of the Debtor; (iv) determining that Cladek and the Cladek 

Entities are liable for all of the debts and liabilities of the Debtor; (v) determining that all assets 

titled in the name of Cladek and the Cladek Entities are property of the Debtor's bankruptcy 

estate and are subject to the jurisdiction of this Court; and (vi) for such other and for such other 

relief the Court may deem just and appropriate. 

COUNT III

ACTION SEEKING PRELIMINARY
AND PERMANENT INJUNCTION

 The Chapter 11 Trustee sues Cladek and the Cladek Entities and alleges: 

43. The Chapter 11 Trustee repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 42 above as if 

fully set forth herein. 

44. This is an action requesting the entry of a preliminary and permanent injunction 

against Cladek and the Cladek Entities as alter egos of the Debtor pursuant to Rule 65 of the 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, as incorporated herein pursuant to Rule 7065 of the Federal 

Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure. 

45. Cladek funneled investment funds through the Debtor's operating and other 

financial institution accounts to Cladek and the Cladek Entities for her own use. 

46. Cladek utilized funds misappropriated from the Debtor to acquire real and 

personal property of significant value for the benefit of Cladek and the Cladek Entities.  The 

precise nature, extent and whereabouts of all of the assets of Cladek and the Cladek Entities is 

not yet fully known. 
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47. Cladek still maintains the ability to exercise dominion and control over at least 

some of her personal assets as well as the assets of the Cladek Entities (but not the assets of the 

Debtor) including, but not limited to, the ability to transfer or withdraw balances in financial 

institution accounts to herself, her affiliates and third parties. 

48. If Cladek and the Cladek Entities are permitted to continue to exercise dominion 

and control over personal assets and the assets of the Cladek Entities, there is a significant 

likelihood that such assets will be transferred, concealed, dissipated, and/or destroyed. 

49. The Debtor, its estate and its creditors would suffer irreparable harm if the 

personal assets of Cladek and the assets of the Cladek Entities were transferred, concealed, 

dissipated, and/or destroyed. 

50. The Chapter 11 Trustee has a clear legal right to an order enjoining Cladek and 

the Cladek Entities from transferring, concealing, dissipating, and/or destroying the assets of 

Cladek and the Cladek Entities. 

51. Maintaining the status quo is therefore necessary and protective of the interests of 

all parties. 

52. The Chapter 11 Trustee lacks an adequate remedy at law. 

53. The public interest would be served by an Order enjoining Cladek and the Cladek 

Entities from transferring, concealing, dissipating, and/or destroying the assets of Cladek and the 

Cladek Entities. 

WHEREFORE, the Chapter 11 Trustee demands the entry of appropriate orders and a 

final judgment against Cladek and the Cladek Entities:  (i) imposing a preliminary and a 

permanent injunction against Cladek, the Cladek Entities, and Cladek Entities' members, 

managers, partners, joint venturers, officers, directors, agents, attorneys, employees, 
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shareholders, and affiliates, past or present, and all others in custody, possession or control of 

funds, documents, or other property of the Debtor, Cladek, and the Cladek Entities and the 

proceeds or products thereof (collectively, the "Enjoined Parties"), from, among other things, (a) 

taking any action, directly or indirectly, to transfer, conceal, dissipate, destroy, encumber, 

hypothecate, abandon or otherwise dispose of any and all income, revenue, funds, contracts, 

licenses, contract rights, real property, tangible and intangible personal property and any other 

legal or equitable interest or property right (collectively, the "Assets") of, or received, directly or 

indirectly, from the Debtor, Cladek, and/or the Cladek Entities without the written consent of the 

Chapter 11 Trustee; (b) restraining and enjoining the Enjoined Parties from authorizing, causing, 

effectuating or acquiescing in such acts which might have the effect of impairing the value of the 

assets of the Debtor, Cladek, and/or the Cladek Entities; (c) transferring or withdrawing balances 

on deposit in financial institution accounts of the Debtor, Cladek, the Cladek Entities, and/or any 

of their affiliates; and (d) enjoining any and all actions seeking a receivership or commencing an 

involuntary bankruptcy proceeding against Cladek and the Cladek Entities; and (ii) for such 

other and further relief as the Court may deem just and appropriate. 

COUNT IV

ACTION SEEKING TURNOVER OF PROPERTY TO 
THE BANKRUPTCY ESTATE AND FOR AN ACCOUNTING

 The Chapter 11 Trustee sues Cladek and the Cladek entities and alleges: 

54. The Chapter 11 Trustee repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 53 above as if 

fully set forth herein.

55. To the extent the Court grants the relief demanded in Counts I and/or II above, 

this action seeks the turnover of property of the Debtor's bankruptcy estate pursuant to Section 

542 of the Bankruptcy Code, as well as an accounting in connection therewith.
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56. At all times material hereto, Cladek caused the Debtor to transfer funds to, 

between and/or among the Debtor, Cladek and the Cladek Entities, while the Debtor, through 

Cladek, continued to exercise dominion and control of and over such funds, which were 

thereafter used to acquire real and personal property of substantial value for Cladek and the 

Cladek Entities.  The precise nature, extent and whereabouts of all of the assets of Cladek and 

the Cladek Entities are not yet fully known, except that certain valuable assets of Cladek and the 

Cladek Entities were seized by the United States government in March 2010 and/or are subject to 

the forfeiture proceeding described above.

57. All of the property held by Cladek and the Cladek Entities was acquired with 

funds misappropriated from the Debtor and hence constitutes property of the Debtor's 

bankruptcy estate pursuant to Section 541 of the Bankruptcy Code.

58. The Chapter 11 Trustee is entitled to the immediate turnover of all such property 

and to an accounting in regard to such property.

WHEREFORE, the Chapter 11 Trustee demands the entry of judgment against Cladek 

and the Cladek Entities:  (i) ordering them to turn over to the Chapter 11 Trustee all funds, 

property, assets and other things of value acquired with funds misappropriated from the Debtor; 

(ii) ordering them to account to the Chapter 11 Trustee regarding the status, use and current 

location of such funds, property and assets; and (iii) for such other and further relief this Court 

deems just and appropriate. 
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COUNT V

ACTION TO AVOID AND RECOVER FRAUDULENT
TRANSFERS PURSUANT TO 11 U.S.C. §§ 544 AND 

548 AND CHAPTER 726 OF THE FLORIDA STATUTES

 The Chapter 11 Trustee sues Cladek and the Cladek Entities and alleges: 

59. The Chapter 11 Trustee repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 58 above as if 

fully set forth herein. 

60. This is an action to avoid and recover fraudulent transfers from the Debtor to 

Cladek and the Cladek Entities (collectively, the "Transfers"). 

61. Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 548 and/or 11 U.S.C. § 544 and Chapter 726 of the 

Florida Statutes, a chapter 11 trustee may avoid any transfer of an interest of the debtor in 

property, or any obligation incurred by the debtor, that was made or incurred on or within two 

years (under section 548 of the Bankruptcy Code) and four years (under Chapter 726 of the 

Florida Statutes) before the date of the filing of the petition, if the debtor voluntarily or 

involuntarily – (A) made such transfer or incurred such obligation with the actual intent to 

hinder, delay, or defraud any entity to which the debtor was or became, or after the date that such 

transfer was made or such obligation occurred, indebted; or (B)(i) received less than a reasonably 

equivalent value in exchange for such transfer or obligation; and (ii)(I) was insolvent on the date 

that such transfer was made or such obligation was incurred, or became insolvent as a result of 

such transfer or obligation; or (II) was engaged in a business or a transaction, or was about to 

engage in a business or transaction, for which any property remaining with the debtor was an 

unreasonably small capital; or (III) intended to incur, or believed that the debtor would incur, 

debts that would be beyond the debtor's ability to pay as such debts matured. 
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62. Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 550, in a fraudulent transfer action commenced under 

Sections 544 and 548 of the Bankruptcy Code and Chapter 726 of the Florida Statutes, a chapter 

11 trustee may recover, for the benefit of the estate, the property transferred, or, if the court so 

orders, the value of such property, from – (1) the initial transferee of such transfer or the entity 

for whose benefit such transfer was made; or (2) any immediate or mediate transferee of such 

initial transferee. 

63. The Transfers constitute transfers of an interest in property of the Debtor to 

Cladek and the Cladek Entities within two years (under Section 548 of the Bankruptcy Code) 

and four years (under Chapter 726 of the Florida Statutes) prior to the petition date. 

64. The Debtor did not receive reasonably equivalent value for the Transfers because 

it:  (i) was insolvent at the time of the Transfers or became insolvent as a result thereof; or (ii) 

was engaged or was about to engage in a business or transaction for which the remaining assets 

of the Debtor were unreasonably small in relation to the business or transaction; or (iii) intended 

to incur, or believed or reasonably should have believed, that it would incur debts beyond its 

ability to pay as they came due. 

65. In addition, the Transfers were made with the actual intent to hinder, delay or 

defraud creditors of the Debtor, and such Transfers were not received in good faith by Cladek 

and the Cladek Entities.  Among other badges of fraud, at or near the time of the Transfers, the 

Debtor:  (i) was insolvent; (ii) was not paying its debtors as they became due; (iii) did not receive 

reasonably equivalent value for the Transfers; (iv) made the Transfers to Cladek, the Cladek 

Entities and entities owned or controlled by Cladek who are "insiders" under the Bankruptcy 

Code.
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66. As a result of these improper acts, the Chapter 11 Trustee can avoid the Transfers 

pursuant to Sections 544 and 548 of the Bankruptcy Code and Chapter 726 of the Florida 

Statutes, and recover the value thereof for the benefit of the estate pursuant to Section 550 of the 

Bankruptcy Code. 

WHEREFORE, the Chapter 11 Trustee demands the entry of judgment against Cladek 

and the Cladek Entities:  (i) avoiding the Transfers in amounts to be determined by the Court; (ii) 

awarding the Chapter 11 Trustee the amount or value of the Transfers, plus pre-judgment interest 

and costs; (iii) disallowing any claim that Cladek and the Cladek Entities may have against the 

Debtor until such time the Transfers are re-paid to the Chapter 11 Trustee pursuant to 11 U.S.C. 

§ 502(d); and (iv) awarding such other and further relief as this Court deems just and 

appropriate.

COUNT VI

ACTION FOR CONVERSION AGAINST 
CLADEK AND THE CLADEK ENTITIES

 The Chapter 11 Trustee sues Cladek and the Cladek Entities and alleges:   

67. The Chapter 11 Trustee repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 66 above as if 

fully set forth herein. 

68. The Debtor had a possessory right and interest to the funds in its financial 

institution accounts in the form or withdrawals, wire transfers, debits, checks, payments and 

other transfers. 

69. Cladek and the Cladek Entities converted funds in the Debtor's financial 

institution accounts in the form of withdrawals, wire transfers, debits, checks, payments and 

other transfers. 
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70. The Debtor and its creditors were deprived of the use of the funds converted by 

Cladek and the Cladek Entities. 

71. As a direct and proximate result of this conduct, the Debtor and its creditors have 

not had the use of the funds converted by Cladek and the Cladek Entities. 

72. By reason of the above, the Debtor is entitled to an award of compensatory 

damages, in an amount to be determined at trial. 

73. The conscious, willful, wanton, and malicious conduct of Cladek and the Cladek 

Entities entitles the Debtor to an award of punitive damages, in an amount to be determined at 

trial.

WHEREFORE, the Chapter 11 Trustee demands the entry of judgment against Cladek 

and the Cladek Entities for compensatory damages, special damages, consequential damages and 

punitive damages, along with an award of pre-judgment interest and costs, and for such other 

relief and this Court may deem just and appropriate. 

COUNT VII

ACTION FOR UNJUST ENRICHMENT AGAINST
CLADEK AND THE CLADEK ENTITIES

 The Chapter 11 Trustee sues Cladek and the Cladek Entities and alleges: 

74. The Chapter 11 Trustee repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 73 above as if 

fully set forth herein. 

75. The Debtor conferred a benefit upon Cladek and the Cladek Entities when the 

Debtor transferred its funds and property to Cladek and the Cladek Entities without receiving any 

value in exchange therefor. 
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76. Cladek and the Cladek Entities accepted and retained the funds and property 

transferred by the Debtor and received additional transfers, interest, profits, and other 

enhancements as a result of these transfers.  

77. Equity and good conscience require full restitution by Cladek and the Cladek 

Entities of the Debtor's funds and property as well as any additional appreciation, interest, profits 

and other enhancements resulting therefrom. 

78. The acceptance and retention of the Debtor's funds and property as well as any 

additional appreciation, interest, profits, and other enhancements resulting therefrom has unjustly 

enriched Cladek and the Cladek Entities to the detriment of the Debtor and the Debtor's 

creditors.

79. The Debtor lacks an adequate remedy at law. 

WHEREFORE, the Chapter 11 Trustee demands the entry of judgment against Cladek 

and the Cladek Entities in an amount equal to the value of the property Cladek improperly and 

illegally caused the Debtor to transfer to herself and the Cladek Entities, along with an award of 

pre-judgment interest and costs, and for such other and further relief as this Court deems just and 

appropriate.

COUNT VIII

ACTION FOR A CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST
AGAINST CLADEK AND THE CLADEK ENTITIES

 The Chapter 11 Trustee sues Cladek and the Cladek Entities and alleges: 

80. The Chapter 11 Trustee repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 78 above as if 

fully set forth herein. 
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81. Through her operation of the Debtor as a fraudulent Ponzi scheme, Cladek caused 

the Debtor to fraudulently transfer funds and property of the Debtor to Cladek and the Cladek 

Entities without receiving any value in return. 

82. The Debtor made the transfers referenced above with the actual intent to hinder, 

delay and defraud his creditors. 

83. Thus, the transfers made to Cladek and the Cladek Entities were obtained by 

fraud.

84. Some investors/creditors of the Debtor received fictitious profits, existing 

customers' original principal and/or money invested by subsequent customers from the Debtor, 

while others investors/creditors received nothing at all. 

85. It is fair and equitable that a constructive trust be imposed on the transfers made 

to Cladek and the Cladek Entities, so that such funds and property can be distributed among all 

investors and/or creditors equally. 

86. Cladek and the Cladek Entities are in possession of traceable funds and property 

transferred by the Debtor, which represent fictitious profits, existing customers' original 

principal, money invested by subsequent customers, and/or funds and property otherwise 

fraudulently obtained by the Debtor. 

87. Cladek and the Cladek Entities were unjustly enriched by the transfers referenced 

above.

88. Based on the allegations set forth herein, equity requires the imposition of a 

constructive trust in favor of the Chapter 11 Trustee for the benefit of the bankruptcy estate of 

the Debtor, against all funds, property and other things of value transferred to Cladek and the 

Cladek Entities, and the proceeds and products of those transfers. 
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89. The Chapter 11 Trustee lacks an adequate remedy at law. 

WHEREFORE, the Chapter 11 Trustee demands the entry of judgment against Cladek 

and the Cladek Entities imposing a constructive trust against any funds, property or other things 

of value transferred to Cladek and the Cladek Entities, and all proceeds and products thereof, and 

for such other and further relief this Court may deem just and appropriate.. 

COUNT IX

ACTION FOR AN ACCOUNTING AGAINST
CLADEK AND THE CLADEK ENTITIES

 The Chapter 11 Trustee sues Cladek and the Cladek Entities and alleges: 

90. The Chapter 11 Trustee repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 89 above as if 

fully set forth herein. 

91. As set forth above, the Debtor's funds and property have been wrongfully diverted 

as a result of fraudulent conveyances, breaches of fiduciary duties, conversions, and other 

wrongdoing of Cladek and the Cladek Entities for Cladek's individual interests and enrichment. 

92. To quantify the amount of funds and property converted by Cladek and the 

Cladek Entities from the Debtor, it will be necessary for Cladek and the Cladek Entities to obtain 

an accounting of such transfers of funds and property received from the Debtor as well as any 

additional appreciation, interests, profits, and other enhancements resulting therefrom.  Complete 

information regarding the amount of such transfers converted by Cladek and the Cladek Entities 

for their own benefit is within their possession, custody, and control. 

93. These issues involve complicated and extensive accounts and the remedy at law 

would not be as full, adequate and expeditious as it is in equity. 

94. The Debtor lacks an adequate remedy at law. 
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WHEREFORE, the Chapter 11 Trustee demands the entry of judgment against Cladek 

and the Cladek Entities requiring Cladek and the Cladek Entities to provide an accounting of all 

funds and property received from the Debtor, directly or indirectly, and for such other and 

further relief this Court may deem just and appropriate. 

COUNT X

ACTION FOR BREACH OF FIDUCIARY 
DUTY AGAINST CLADEK

 The Chapter 11 Trustee sues Cladek and alleges: 

95. The Chapter 11 Trustee repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 94 above as if 

fully set forth herein. 

96. The Debtor had the right to trust that Cladek, as its President and sole shareholder, 

would not use the Debtor's name, assets, and relationships with clients and financial institutions, 

to convert funds of the Debtor, and to otherwise engage in illegal or improper activities. 

97. Cladek breached her fiduciary duties to the Debtor by, among other this, using the 

Debtor's name, assets, and relationships with clients and financial institutions, to convert funds 

of the Debtor, and to otherwise engage in illegal and improper activities. 

98. The breaches of fiduciary duties by Cladek were the proximate cause of the 

damages suffered by the Debtor including, but not limited to, compensatory damages, special 

damages, consequential damages and punitive damages. 

WHEREFORE, the Chapter 11 Trustee demands the entry of judgment against Cladek 

for compensatory damages, special damages, consequential damages and punitive damages, 

along with an award of pre-judgment interest and costs, and for such other and further relief as 

this Court may deem just and appropriate. 
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RESERVATION OF RIGHTS

99. The Chapter 11 Trustee reserves the right to amend this Complaint upon 

completion of his investigation and discovery in order to assert any additional claims for relief 

against the Defendants or to add additional defendants which he may identify as may be 

warranted under the circumstances and as allowed by law.  In addition, nothing set forth herein is 

intended, nor shall be deemed, to modify, limit, release, reduce, or waive any of the Chapter 11 

Trustee's rights, claims, remedies, or privileges at law or in equity, all of which are specifically 

preserved.

Dated this 19th day of May, 2010.    

      AKERMAN SENTERFITT  

By: /s/ Jacob A. Brown  
Jacob A. Brown 
Florida Bar Number: 0170038 
Email: jacob.brown@akerman.com 
Steven R. Wirth 
Florida Bar Number:  170380 
Email:  steven.wirth@akerman.com 
50 North Laura St., Suite 2500 
Jacksonville, FL 32202 
Telephone: (904) 798-3700 
Facsimile: (940) 798-3730  

Attorneys for the Chapter 11 Trustee 
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